1993

Hartford Leasing Corporation v. Rio Vista Limited,
a Utah Corporation dba Moab U-Serve aka Stars
Food Store, LA Sal Oil Company, a Utah
Corporation, dba Gordon's Sinclair, State of Utah
Dependable Janitorial Service and John does I-X :
Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

The specific statutory authority that confers jurisdiction in this Court in this matter is 78-2-2(3)(j) Utah Code Annotated, 1993.

STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED AND STANDARDS OF REVIEW

ISSUE No. 1: Did the Trial Court abuse its discretion by accepting and ruling on the Appellees' Motion to Dismiss when the Appellees' failed to comply with the Notice provisions of Rule 4-506(3) of the Utah Code of Judicial Administration? The standard of review is whether the Trial Court abused its discretion by failing to comply with the Code of Judicial Administration. Sperry v. Smith, 694 P.2d 581 (Utah 1984).

ISSUE No. 2: Did the Trial Court abuse its discretion by granting the Appellees' Motion to Dismiss for Failure to Prosecute? The standard of review is whether the Trial Court abused its discretion in granting the Appellees' Motion to Dismiss. Charlie Brown Constr. Co. v. Leisure Sports Inc., 740 P.2d 1368 (Utah App. 1987), cert. denied 765 P.2d 1277 (Utah 1987).

ISSUE No. 3: Did the Trial Court abuse its discretion in granting the Appellees' Motion to Dismiss for Failure to Prosecute the action when the Appellant had engaged new counsel who had reactivated this litigation? The standard of review is whether the Trial Court abused its discretion in granting the Appellees' Motion to Dismiss for Failure to Prosecute. Country

Meadow Convalescent Center v. Utah Department of Health, 851 P.2d 1212, 1216 (Utah App. 1993).

ISSUE No. 4: Did the Trial Court abuse its discretion in granting the Appellees' Motion with Prejudice. The standard of review is whether the Trial Court abused its discretion in granting the Appellees' Motion with Prejudice. Charlie Brown Constr. Co. v. Leisure Sports Inc., 740 P.2d 1368 (Utah App. 1987), cert. denied 765 P.2d 1277 (Utah 1987).

ISSUE No. 5: Did the Trial Court abuse its discretion by failing to hold a hearing on the Appellees' Motions to Dismiss when a hearing was requested by the Appellant pursuant to Rule 4-501(3)(b) of the Utah Code of Judicial Administration. The standard of review is whether the Trial Court abused its discretion. Gillmor v. Cummings, 806 P.2d 1205 (Utah App. 1991).

ISSUE No. 6: Did the Trial Court err as a matter of law in interpreting Rule 4-501 of the Utah Code of Judicial Administration when it decided that Rule 4-501 did not permit the submission of Supplemental Memorandum which resulted in the Court failing to consider the Appellant's supplemental memorandum when deciding upon Appellees' Motions to Dismiss. The standard of review is to pay no deference to the legal conclusions of the lower court. Bettinger v. Bettinger, 793 P.2d 389, 391 (Utah App. 1990).

CONSTITUTIONAL AND STATUTORY PROVISIONS

The following statutory provisions are reproduced in full and attached hereto in Appendix A:

Rule 4-501, Utah Code of Judicial Administration

Rule 4-506, Utah Code of Judicial Administration

Rule 103-3, Rules of Practice for the Federal District Court
for the District of Utah

Rule 41, Utah Rules of Civil Procedure (1993)

Section 286, California Code of Civil Procedure

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

PROCEDURAL HISTORY

This appeal is being taken from an Order of the Seventh Judicial District Court in and for Grand County, State of Utah, dated and entered on the 21st day of June, 1993, and signed by Judge Lyle R. Anderson, over the objections of the Appellant, granting the Appellees' Motion to Dismiss with prejudice for Failure to Prosecute. (R. 173-176 and R. 313-316). The notice of appeal was filed on the 3rd day of August, 1993 pursuant to Rule 4(a) of the Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure.

FACTUAL HISTORY

1. This action was filed on June 22, 1988. (R. 1-14).
2. The Plaintiff, as the owner of a building in Moab, Utah known as the Southwest Regional Center, brought action against the State of Utah for vacating the building prior to the expiration of the lease and against Defendant LaSal Oil and Rio Vista Oil for damages to its property occasioned by leakage of gasoline from underground storage tanks which were alleged to have created an underground plume, which invaded Plaintiff's and adjoining property owners land. (R. 1-14).

3. Appellee Rio Vista filed its answer on July 18, 1988. (R. 29-32).

4. Default Judgment was entered against Appellee La Sal on July 26, 1988. (R. 37).

5. Appellee State of Utah filed a Motion for a More Definite Statement on August 25, 1988. (R. 41-43).

6. The Trial Court granted Appellee State's Motion for a More Definite Statement on September 27, 1988. (R. 52).

7. On November 15, 1988 Appellant's counsel William Bannon executed a notice of withdrawal as counsel, which was not filed with the Trial Court until December 8, 1988. (R. 67).

8. On November 30, 1988, attorney Dale Gardner prepared a Notice of Appearance as Appellant's attorney. However, said Notice does not anywhere appear in the Court's record.

9. On December 1, 1988, Counsel for Appellant prepared but never signed nor filed Appellant's Amended Complaint in response to Appellee State's Motion for a More Definite Statement. (R. 242-254).

10. The Plaintiff filed for protection from its creditors under Chapter 11 of the Bankruptcy Code on December 1, 1988.

11. On December 6, 1988, Appellant and Appellee La Sal Oil stipulated to set aside the default judgment entered against Appellee La Sal. (R. 57-59).

12. On December 7, 1988, the Trial Court issued an Order setting aside the Default judgment entered against Appellee La Sal. (R. 60-61).

13. Appellee La Sal filed its answer on December 7, 1988. (R. 62-65).

14. On December 30, 1988, Appellant's Counsel Dale Gardner filed a Notice of Withdrawal of Counsel and Notice of Bankruptcy which informed the Trial Court that the Appellant had filed a petition for Chapter 11 Bankruptcy protection. (R. 69).

15. Appellant's Bankruptcy petition was closed on October 29, 1990. (R. 128).

16. At no time did any of the Appellees file a Notice to Appoint Counsel or Appear in Person pursuant to Rule 4-506 of the Utah Code of Judicial Administration. (R. 219-220 and R. 175-176).

17. Despite being forced into Bankruptcy by Appellees' own conduct, Appellant continued to pursue this litigation by obtaining, through the non-record discovery process, hundreds of relevant documents and several environmental reports. (R. 221-239).

18. Despite being forced into Bankruptcy by the Appellee's own conduct, Appellant unsuccessfully tried to retain other counsel who would represent Appellant in this litigation to its conclusion. (R. 256-286).

19. Appellees La Sal and Rio Vista have been involved as parties in collateral litigation in the Seventh Judicial District Court in and for Grand County, State of Utah under case #880705660 and said case dealt with their culpability for damages to adjoining property owners occasioned by a gas plume which

invaded property abutting the Appellant's land. (R. 296-308).

20. Appellees La Sal, Rio Vista and the State have been involved as parties in litigation in the Third Judicial District Court for Salt Lake County and said case dealt with the issue of whether or not a gas plume from La Sal and/or Rio Vista invaded Appellant's and/or other neighboring properties and who should be responsible for costs of remediation expended by the state. (R. 115-116).

21. Both of these case were concluded just prior to the filing of the Defendant's Motion to Dismiss. (R. 116).

22. Each of the Appellees were actively involved in the prosecution and defense of those cases and many scientific studies were produced on both sides to prove issues between them. These studies were conducted on the Appellant's property as well as the property of others. (R. 116).

23. On March 29, 1993, despite having not complied with Rule 4-506 of the Utah Code of Judicial Administration, Appellee State filed its Motion to For Lack of Prosecution or Strike and Points and Authorities. (R. 71-75).

24. On March 31, 1993, despite having not complied with Rule 4-506 of the Utah Code of Judicial Administration, Appellee La Sal filed its Motion to Dismiss Plaintiff's Complaint. (R. 76-105).

25. On April 12, 1993, Appellant's new counsel, Steven C. Tycksen filed his Notice of Appearance of Counsel. (R. 106).

26. On April 12, 1993, Appellant's new counsel, Steven C.

Tycksen. filed a Request for Scheduling pursuant to Rule 16(b). (R. 108).

27. On April 12, 1993, Appellant's new counsel, Steven C. Tycksen, without adequate time to evaluate the factual underpinnings of this complicated environmental litigation, prepared and submitted Objections to Defendants' Motion for Dismissal including a request for Oral Argument pursuant to Rule 4-501(3)(b) of the Utah Code of Judicial Administration (R. 112) and a Memorandum of Points and Authorities. (R. 110-125).

28. On April 21, 1993, Appellee La Sal submitted its Reply Memorandum in Support of Motion to Dismiss Plaintiff's Complaint. (R. 126-135).

29. On April 21, 1993, Appellee State filed its Reply Regarding Motion to Dismiss for Lack of Prosecution with Prejudice or Strike. (R. 136-139).

30. On May 3, 1993, Appellee Rio Vista filed a Motion for Joinder in Motions to Dismiss. (R. 140).

31. On May 24, 1993, Appellant filed a Supplemental Affidavit in Support of its Objections to the Motions to Dismiss. (R. 142-146).

32. On June 7, 1993, Appellee La Sal filed a Notice to Submit for Decision. (R. 147-148).

33. On June 7, 1993, Appellant filed a Supplemental Memorandum of Points and Authorities in Opposition of Defendants' Motion to Dismiss. (R. 151-162).

34. On June 8, 1993, Appellant filed a Notice to Submit for

Decision. (R. 149-150).

35. On June 14, 1993, Appellee La Sal filed its Motion and Memorandum to Strike Plaintiff's Supplemental Memorandum of Points and Authorities in Opposition to Defendants' Motion to Dismiss. (R. 163-166).

36. On June 16, 1993, Appellee State filed its Motion and Memorandum to Strike Plaintiff's Supplemental Memorandum of Points and Authorities in Opposition to Defendants' Motion to Dismiss. (R. 170-172).

37. On June 21, 1993, Judge Lyle R. Anderson, without holding oral argument as requested by Appellant pursuant to Rule 4-501(3)(b) of the Utah Code of Judicial Administration, entered a minute entry ruling on the Motions to Dismiss. (R. 173-176).

38. A proposed Order based on the ruling was mailed to the Court on July 7, 1993 with an unsigned and undated mailing certificate.

39. On July 15, 1993, at 4:59 p.m., Appellant via facsimile transmission submitted its Objection to proposed Order and a Memorandum of Points and Authorities in Support of its Objections to the proposed Order. (R. 177-196). The court nonetheless time stamped the document as received July 16, 1993. (R. 177).).

40. On July 15, 1993, and without holding oral argument as requested by Appellant pursuant to Rule 4-501(3)(b) of the Utah Code of Judicial Administration, Judge Lyle R. Anderson signed an Order of Dismissal for Lack of Prosecution with Prejudice submitted by Appellee State. (R. 167-169).

41. A hard copy of Appellant's Objections to the Proposed Order and Memorandum of Points and Authorities was filed with the Trial Court on July 16, 1993. (R. 197-312).

42. On July 19, 1993, Judge Lyle R. Anderson entered his Ruling on Objections to Proposed Order through which he confirmed his earlier order granting Appellees' Motions to Dismiss For Failure to Prosecute with Prejudice. (R. 313-315).

43. From the foregoing, Appellant filed its Notice of Appeal and Cost Bond. (R. 316-319).

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Trial Court abused its discretion by proceeding in this matter despite its acknowledgement that the Appellees failed to comply with the terms of Rule 4-506 of the Utah Code of Judicial Administration. The Trial Court abused its discretion by granting Appellees' Motions to Dismiss because Appellant did not engage in dilatory conduct worthy of such a dismissal. The Trial Court further abused its discretion in granting the Appellees' Motions to Dismiss where Appellant had engaged new counsel who had reactivated the case. The Trial Court abused its discretion by failing to hold the hearing and oral argument requested by the Appellant pursuant to Rule 4-501 of the Utah Rules of Judicial Administration. Finally, the Trial Court erred as a matter of law in interpreting Rule 4-501 of the Utah Code of Judicial Administration.

Because the Trial Court abused its discretion, and to right the injustice that has resulted from that abuse, this Court must

vacate the Trial Court's decision and remand this case to the Trial Court for further proceedings.

ARGUMENT

I. THE TRIAL COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION BY ACCEPTING AND RULING ON THE APPELLEES' MOTION TO DISMISS WHEN THE APPELLEES FAILED TO COMPLY WITH THE NOTICE PROVISIONS OF RULE 4-506(3) OF THE UTAH CODE OF JUDICIAL ADMINISTRATION.

A. Rule 4-506(3)

It is axiomatic that a party must comply with the rules contained in the Utah Code of Judicial Administration. Specifically, in the present case, Appellees filed their Motions to Dismiss in violation of Rule 4-506(3) of the Code of Judicial Administration. Further, upon filing the filing of the Appellees' Motions to Dismiss, the Trial Court did not require the Appellee's to comply with the terms of Rule 4-506(3). Because the Trial Court held proceedings in this case despite its own recognition of the Appellees' noncompliance with the Code of Judicial Administration (R. 175), the Trial Court abused its discretion. Therefore, this Court should reverse the Trial Court's granting of the Appellees' Motion to Dismiss.

Appellees violated Rule 4-506 of the Code of Judicial Administration. Rule 4-506(3) states

(3) When an attorney dies or is removed or suspended or withdraws from the case or ceases to act as an attorney, opposing counsel must notify, in writing, the unrepresented client of his responsibility to retain another attorney or appear in person before opposing counsel can initiate further proceedings against the client. A copy of the written notice shall be filed with the court and no further proceedings shall be held in the matter until 20 days have elapsed from the date of filing.

Rule 4-506(3), Code of Judicial Administration (emphasis added).

Thus, the rule contains a mandatory proscription against any further proceedings in an action until twenty days have elapsed following the date of filing the notice to obtain counsel or appear. The express language of the Rule precludes any exercise of discretion by the Trial Court with respect to whether a party must comply with the terms of the Rule.

Appellees violated Rule 4-506(3) by failing to serve Appellant with notice to obtain counsel or appear. The Trial Court abused its discretion by granting Appellees' Motion to Dismiss in light of their respective violations of the Code of Judicial Administration. In Sperry v. Smith, 694 P.2d 581 (Utah 1984), the Utah Supreme Court reviewed the question of whether a trial court abused its discretion in granting a party's Motion for Summary Judgment when the moving party failed to comply with the predecessor to Rule 4-506. In Sperry, the court said,

Since the judgment was entered after the failure of the court to follow one of its own rules, we conclude that the trial court abused its discretion.

Sperry at 582. The present case is analogous to Sperry. In Sperry, the attorney did not comply with the predecessor to Rule 4-506 (no Notice to Appear in Person or Obtain Counsel was mailed to the other party). As in Sperry, in the present case, counsel for the Appellees did not send notification to the Appellant of the need to obtain counsel or appear.

The Trial Court abused its discretion because it clearly found that the Appellees failed to comply with Rule 4-506(3), yet nonetheless accepted and ruled on Appellees Motion to Dismiss.

In its Ruling on the Motion to Dismiss, this Court expressly stated that the Appellees failed to comply with the rule when counsel for Hartford Leasing withdrew from the case. (R. 175-176). Yet in spite of this admission of noncompliance, the Judge Lyle R. Anderson granted Appellees' Motion to Dismiss.

The Trial Court abused its discretion because it erroneously created its own remedy for noncompliance with Rule 4-506 of the Utah Code of Judicial Administration. In its ruling, the Trial Court stated that "the remedy for such a failure is not necessarily denial of the motion. The remedy is to grant Hartford sufficient time after a pleading is filed in violation of Rule 4-506 to obtain counsel and adequately respond. It is evident here that Hartford has had that opportunity." (R. 175-176). The Trial Court's ruling is an abuse of discretion because it both ignores the plain language of the Rule and creates its own remedy which does not follow the precedent established in Utah and other jurisdictions.

The Trial Court's ruling on this matter is an abuse of discretion because it ignores the express language of the Rule which precludes the filing of any further proceedings against the party until such time as the notice is provided. Rule 4-506 does not vest the Trial Court with the discretion to permit proceedings despite noncompliance with the rule. In Sperry, supra, the Trial Court accepted a Motion for Summary Judgment, heard the matter and granted the Motion despite noncompliance

with the then existing version of Rule 4-506.¹ Sperry at 583. In Sperry, the Utah Supreme Court said, "Since the judgment was entered after the failure of the court to follow one of its own rules, we conclude that the Trial Court abused its discretion." Sperry at 583. This is precisely what occurred in the present case. The Trial Court accepted and ruled upon Appellees' Motions to Dismiss despite its express admission that Appellees failed to comply with Rule 4-506. (R. 175-176). Thus, the Trial Court abused its discretion.

The Trial Court abused its discretion in creating its own remedy which both ignored the express language of the rule and precedent. The Trial Court stated

the remedy for such a failure is not necessarily denial of the motion. The remedy is to grant Hartford sufficient time after a pleading is filed in violation of Rule 4-506 to obtain counsel and adequately respond. It is evident here that Hartford has had that opportunity.

(R. 175-176). The Trial Court's statement is an abuse of discretion. First, as mentioned above, the rule expressly states that no further proceedings shall be held until twenty days after the required notice has been given. See Rule 4-506, Utah Code of Judicial Administration (1993). Thus, the Trial Court abused its discretion in holding proceedings before such notice was filed.

¹ Rule 2.5 of the Rules of Practice of the District Courts of the State of Utah, in the relevant part, stated, "When an attorney dies or is removed or suspended or withdraws from the case or ceases to act as an attorney, the party to an action for whom such attorney was acting, must before any further proceedings as had against him, be required by the adverse party, by written notice to appoint another or to appear in person." Rule 2.5 of the Rules of Practice of the District Courts of the State of Utah as quoted in Sperry at 582.

Second, the appropriate remedy is expressly set forth in the Rule itself, i.e.; to not hold any further proceedings until compliance with the rule is satisfied. In Sperry, the Utah Supreme Court said, "the trial judge should have required plaintiff's attorney to then give notice . . . in accordance with Rule 2.5 before proceeding to hear and grant the motion." Sperry at 582.

Utah is not alone in its interpretation that the appropriate remedy for failure to comply with such Rules is to require the noncomplying party to comply prior to holding any further proceedings. California, in its Code of Civil Procedure, has a provision which is similar to Utah's 4-506.² In McMunn v. Lehrke, 155 P. 473, 476 (Cal. App. 3 Dist. 1915), the court held that where the court set a matter for trial and held the trial in the absence of the adverse party providing notice to the unrepresented party, the court was without the authority to hold a trial in this matter. In McMunn, the court stated, "It seems to us that the court was without the authority to proceed with the trial. We are further of the opinion that, if it was within the discretion of the court so to proceed, it was, under all the circumstances, an abuse of discretion." McMunn at 477.

In Aldrich v. San Fernando Valley Lumber Co., 170 Cal. App.

² Section 286, C.C.P. states, "When an attorney dies, or is removed or suspended, or ceases to act as such, a party to an action, for whom he was acting as attorney, must, before any further proceedings are had against him, be required by the adverse party, by written notice, to appoint another attorney, or to appear in person."

3d 725, 216 Cal. Rptr. 300, (Cal App. 2 Dist. 1985) the California courts again addressed the question of whether it was an abuse of discretion to hold proceedings in the face of noncompliance with C.C.P. §286. In Aldrich, the court said

Section 286 means what it plainly says, 'that no proceedings may be had against him [the now unrepresented party] no judgment or order or other step in the action taken, until he appoints an attorney, unless the prescribed notice be first given.' [citing to Larking v. Superior Court, 171 Cal. 719, 154 P. 841 (1916)]. The term 'proceedings', used in its technical legal sense, refers to something done or to be done in a court of justice or before a judicial officer. [citing to Lister v. Superior Court, 98 Cal. App. 3d 64, 70, 159 Cal. Rptr. 280 (1979)]. **A motion in the superior court to dismiss an action for want of prosecution is a good illustration of what is meant by the term proceeding.**

Aldrich at 310 [emphasis supplied]. In both McMunn and Aldrich, the appellate courts vacated the judgments and remanded the case back to the trial courts for further proceedings. Thus, the California courts make it clear that a Motion to Dismiss is a proceeding included under the scope of a statute similar to Utah's 4-506 and that it is an abuse of discretion for the Trial Court to hold such proceedings in the absence of the required notice. Similarly, this Court should vacate the judgment granted by the Trial Court because the Trial Court abused its discretion.

B. Gardiner's Notice of Withdrawal

Appellees' raised arguments to the Trial Court, with which the Trial Court apparently agreed, stating that Appellant's previous attorney's Notice for Withdrawal relieved Appellees of their burden to comply with Rule 4-506(3) of the Code of Judicial Administration. (R. 127). As the language of Rule 4-506 makes clear, compliance with the rule is mandatory. There was never an

appearance in this case by any other counsel for or on behalf of Appellant until its current counsel filed a Notice of Appearance in April of 1993. (R. 115). Clearly, the Appellees were not in any way relieved of their burden to comply with this rule. Thus, the Trial Court abused its discretion in both accepting and granting Appellees' Motion to Dismiss.

Appellees failure to comply with Rule 4-506(3) was both in violation of the Code of Judicial Administration and unreasonable. The Trial Court erroneously excused the Appellees from the requirements of Rule 4-506(3) of the Code of Judicial Administration because the Notice of Withdrawal was allegedly ambiguous. (R. 175). However, upon a careful review of the notice (R. 69), it is apparent that the notice did not contain any information which would relieve the Defendants' of their burden to comply with the mandatory provision of Rule 4-506.

Specifically, the Withdrawal of Counsel and Notice of Bankruptcy contains two paragraphs. The first paragraph clearly states that Dale F. Gardiner was withdrawing as counsel in the present case. The second paragraph states

NOTICE is also given that on December 1, 1988, Hartford Leasing Corporation filed a Chapter 11 bankruptcy petition in the United States Bankruptcy Court for the District of Utah. Counsel for Hartford Leasing Corporation is George H. Speciale Esq., 5 Triad Center #585, Salt Lake City, Utah 84180.

See Exhibit 1. Clearly, the fact that naming Mr. Speciale as counsel for Hartford Leasing is contained in the same paragraph which informs the defendants of Hartford Leasing's filing a petition for bankruptcy indicates that Mr. Speciale was counsel

for Hartford Leasing in the bankruptcy proceeding. The World Book Encyclopedia, defines "paragraph" as "a division of written work, consisting of one or more sentences, all related to the same idea." World Book Encyclopedia, Vol. 13, Field Enterprises, Inc. (1957).³

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