1993

Hartford Leasing Corporation v. Rio Vista Limited,
a Utah Corporation dba Moab U-Serve aka Stars
Food Store, LA Sal Oil Company, a Utah
Corporation, dba Gordon's Sinclair, State of Utah
Dependable Janitorial Service and John does I-X :
Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Judge Anderson properly found that the Appellant was not prejudiced by any technical noncompliance with Rule 4-506(3) of the Utah Code of Judicial Administration.

Plaintiff had counsel before and during the Motion to Dismiss proceeding. The notice of withdrawal and indication of the appointment of George H. Speciale as counsel for Hartford Leasing Corporation (the Plaintiff) gave Defendants every indication that Mr. Speciale was its counsel. Judge Anderson did not abuse his discretion. To the contrary, it would have been an abuse of discretion to allow a four and one-half year extension of time to file an amended complaint after a motion for more definite statement was granted.

URCP Rule 12 (e) allows the Court to take such action as it "deems necessary". This certainly can include a dismissal with prejudice. URCP Rule 41 (b) also allows a dismissal with prejudice for failure to comply with the Court. Given the extremely long period of failure to comply with the Court, such a dismissal with prejudice was certainly not an abuse of discretion.

There was no abuse of discretion for not holding a hearing.

Appellant waived this hearing in its Notice to Submit for Decision. Appellant did not provide any argument in its Brief that Appellant would have offered something at the hearing that the Judge had not considered. If there was any error here, it was harmless. It would have been an abuse of discretion not to grant Appellee's Motion to Dismiss.

There was no abuse of discretion in the Judge's adherence to the Court Rules regarding memoranda. A page limit, for instance would make no sense, if one can file as many memoranda as one wishes.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

**THE DISTRICT COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION
BY DISMISSING THE CASE FOR LACK OF PROSECUTION,
DESPITE ANY LACK OF SPECIAL NOTICE UNDER UTAH
CODE OF JUDICIAL ADMINISTRATION RULE 4-506(3).**

Dale Gardiner filed a notice of withdrawal of counsel in 1988 after the Court required an amended complaint to be filed due to the granting of a motion for more definite statement. The notice of withdrawal indicated that George H. Speciale was the new counsel. Appellant contends that this indication of new counsel is in the same paragraph as the bankruptcy notification and that therefore one should interpret the notice as George H. Speciale only being the counsel for bankruptcy. This interpretation is unreasonable. If Appellant was to be unrepresented in this matter,

its withdrawing counsel should have been clearer. Also, one can interpret the notice as having an initial paragraph indicating that Dale Gardiner was withdrawing and a second paragraph indicating the remaining matters.

Appellant is arguing that failure to comply with a notification requirement under Utah Code of Judicial Administration Rule 4-506(3), forever precludes any further proceedings by the trial court. Utah Code of Judicial Administration Rule 4-506(3) states that when an attorney withdraws from a case, the opposing counsel must notify the unrepresented client in writing to obtain other counsel or appear in person before further proceedings are initiated by the opposing counsel. The Rule further states that "no further proceedings shall be held in the matter until 20 days have elapsed from the date of filing." It is a logical conclusion from reading the Rule, that the intent is to avoid a situation where an unrepresented person is facing proceedings without counsel and to avoid a situation where any new counsel does not have at least twenty days to prepare.

Appellant was represented by counsel before and during the Motion to Dismiss proceeding and was not prejudiced by any potential "technical" violation of the "counsel notification requirement". The record shows that the new counsel, Steven Tycksen, was able to file extensive documents opposing the Motion

to Dismiss.

Appellant's reliance on Sperry v. Smith, 694 P.2d 583 (Utah 1984), is misplaced. In Sperry, the Utah Supreme Court stated a relationship between obedience with court rules and the abuse of discretion standard. Sperry, however, does not mean that non-prejudicial technical rule violations prohibit a Court from proceeding in a matter. The appropriate course for dealing with any technical violation of the "counsel notification" rule is to assure that the purpose of the rule is satisfied prior to any action that may prejudice an unrepresented party's rights.

Even if there was a violation of the "counsel notification requirement," it would have been an abuse of the Court's discretion to not grant the Motion to Dismiss, where over four and one-half years passed without the filing of an amended complaint, which was required in order to prosecute the action.

POINT II

**THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ABUSE IT DISCRETION
IN GRANTING THE MOTION TO DISMISS WHERE APPELLANT
HAD NOT FILED A REQUIRED AMENDED COMPLAINT IN OVER
FOUR AND ONE-HALF YEARS.**

"The burden is on the party 'attacking a dismissal for failure to prosecute [to] offer a reasonable excuse for its lack of diligence.'" Country Meadows v. Department of Health, 851 P.2d 1212, 1215 (Utah App. 1993), quoting Meadow Fresh Farms v. Utah State Univ., 813 P.2d 1216, 1218 (Utah App. 1991). The decision

of the trial court to grant the motion to dismiss should not be interfered with unless the abuse of discretion is "clear." Country Meadows, 851 P.2d at 1214, citing Charlie Brown Constr. Co. v. Leisure Sports, Inc., 740 P.2d 1368, 1370 (Utah App. 1987), cert. denied, 765 P.2d 1277 (Utah 1987).

Here, there is no reasonable excuse for the Appellant to not have filed an amended complaint for over four and one-half years beyond the ten day time limit. In fact, no amended complaint against the State was ever served. Appellant admits that an amended complaint was prepared in 1988, but never filed. (R. 242-253).

Appellant contends that the relevant factors enumerated in Maxfield v. Rushton, 779 P.2d 237, 239 (Utah App. 1989) were not met. These factors include the conduct of the parties, opportunity each party had to move the case forward, what each party did to move it forward, prejudice, and injustice. However, the trial court properly considered these factors and concluded that dismissal was appropriate.

CONDUCT OF THE PARTIES AND WHAT EACH PARTY DID

In Country Meadows, 851 P.2d at 1216, the Utah Court of Appeals indicated that even though the defendant may not have moved the case forward, the plaintiff had a duty to exercise due diligence to prosecute its action. In this case, it would be

absurd for the State to prepare and file an amended complaint against itself in order to move the case forward or even to request that plaintiff prosecute the case against the public.

Certainly, as stated above, the Appellant should have been able to serve and file an amended complaint within the four and a half years prior to the Motion to Dismiss.

PREJUDICE AND INJUSTICE

The State would be greatly prejudiced if the case were to move forward. In its original complaint, Hartford Leasing sought damages for the defendant's alleged breach of a lease agreement. The State vacated the subject building after employees became ill. This could have been caused by one or many factors, including mold, the gas plume, the carpet, etc. The building has been sold and alterations have occurred. It would be very difficult at this time to establish the causes of the illness that occurred almost six years ago.

Appellee is even prejudiced in trying to argue this factor. Because no amended complaint was filed, no answer by the State has been filed. Therefore, it is not documented in the record of this case as to what the issues of the case will be. It is anticipated that if the State had to file an answer to an extremely late amended complaint, that the issues would not be limited to the gas plume, but would likely include construction defects that may now

have been altered in the building by the new owners.

When a District Court grants a Motion for More Definite Statement and the plaintiff does not file an amended complaint, and over four and one-half years passes since the ten day deadline, justice is served by dismissing the matter.

POINT III

**THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION
IN GRANTING THE DISMISSAL AS APPELLANT HAD
NOT REACTIVATED THE CASE PRIOR TO ITS MOTION
TO DISMISS.**

Appellant argues that it obtained new counsel and reactivated the case, and therefore the case should not have been dismissed for lack of prosecution. However, there is nothing in the record of this case showing any action of new counsel prior to the motion to dismiss for lack of prosecution. The new counsel (or perhaps any of the attorneys that Appellant sought advice from over the past five years, including Dale Gardiner) could have file an amended complaint, but did not.

Appellant misinterprets the case of Country Meadows v. Department of Health, 851 P.2d 1212 (Utah App. 1993). Appellant misconstrues this case when it argues that when a case is reactivated at any time, a motion to dismiss for lack of prosecution would be improper. In Country Meadows, 851 P.2d at 1216, the court made it clear that where the case is not reactivated prior to the dismissal motion, an attempt to reactivate

the case after the dismissal motion does not make the dismissal an abuse of discretion.

Even though Appellant had a contingency fee agreement with the new counsel in this matter, prior to the filing of Appellee's Motion to Dismiss on March 26, 1993 (R.285-287), the new counsel did not file anything in the matter until April 7, 1993 (R. 110-113). Thus, Appellant had the opportunity to reactivate the case prior to the filing of the Motion to Dismiss, but did not do so. There was no abuse of discretion by the trial court under these circumstances.

POINT IV

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION BY GRANTING THE MOTION TO DISMISS WITH PREJUDICE.

The court did not abuse its discretion by granting the dismissal with prejudice. The Appellant had not filed an amended complaint in over four and one-half years. URCP 12(e) allows the court to "make such order as it deems just" when the Appellant is more than ten (10) days late. Certainly the great length of time here indicates that the Court's order of dismissal with prejudice was within the realm of reason under URCP 12(e) and not an abuse of discretion.

This dismissal with prejudice is consistent with URCP Rule 41(b) and the decision of the Utah courts supporting dismissals

with prejudice. County Meadows v. Department of Health, 851 P.2d 1212, 1217 (Utah App. 1993); Maxfield v. Rushton, 779 P.2d 237 (Utah App. 1989); and Charlie Brown Constr. Co. v. Leisure Sports, Inc., 740 P.2d 1368 (Utah App. 1987) cert. denied, 765 P.2d 1277 (Utah 1977).

POINT V

**THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION
BY NOT HOLDING A HEARING WHEN THE APPELLANT
INDICATED THE MATTER WAS AT ISSUE AND READY
FOR DECISION AND APPELLANT OFFERS NO ARGUMENT
AS TO HOW A HEARING MAY HAVE MADE A DIFFERENCE.**

Appellant requested an oral argument at the time it responded to the Motion to Dismiss on April 7, 1993. (R. 112). However, on June 7, 1993 (two months later), Appellant served a "Notice to Submit for Decision" which stated that the Motion for Dismissal "is now at issue and ready for decision of the Court." (R. 149-150).

The District Court interpreted the actions of Appellant as a waiver of the hearing request. (R. 313-314).

Appellant argues that a hearing may not be waived under Rule 4-501(3)(d) of the Utah Code of Judicial Administration. Appellant's argument is flawed. Rule 4-501(3)(d) applies when a request for hearing is "denied." The trial court did not deny the request. The trial court ruled that Appellant waived the hearing.

It is not an abuse of discretion for the trial court to grant the motion to dismiss based upon a consideration of the court file

and the memoranda of the parties, when the Appellant withdrew a request for oral argument.

Even if the Appellant's special language in its Notice to Submit for Decision was not a waiver of the hearing, Appellant has failed to indicate any argument in its Brief as to how such lack of hearing prejudiced the Appellant. See Rule 61, Utah Rules of Civil Procedure. Additionally, since Appellant was over four and one-half years late in complying with the Court decision in regard to amending the Complaint, it would have been an abuse of discretion for the Court to not grant the Motion to Dismiss, regardless of whether there was a hearing.

POINT VI

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR BY DISALLOWING THE APPELLANT'S SUPPLEMENTAL MEMORANDUM

Appellant sought to file a Supplemental Memorandum opposing the Motion to Dismiss after the Defendant had already submitted the Reply regarding the Motion to Dismiss.

Rule 4-501 (1) (a) of the Utah Code of Judicial Administration provides that the Memorandum in opposition to the Motion shall be no longer than ten pages in length unless waived by order of the Court. The Rule also provides for one memorandum in opposition.

The Court appropriately interpreted Rule 4-501 and did not commit any error in granting the Motion to Dismiss based upon only having "one round" of memoranda.

CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing, Appellee State of Utah respectfully requests that this Court affirm the order of the Seventh Judicial District Court which granted the Motion to Dismiss with prejudice.